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CHURCHES

The introduction to the chapter on churches was written by a
native of Pittsboro, Dr. George Griffin, professor of religion at
Wake Forest University. '

Introduction

The earliest settlers in North Carolina came from Virginia
around 1653 and located in the Albemarle Sound area. S. B.
Weeks, North Carolina historian, insists that these settlers did not
come to North Carolina for religious reasons, but largely for
economic purposes. Nevertheless, the Christian religion played a
prominent part in the early development of the state. Soon after
Charles II granted Carolina to the Eight Lord Proprietors, the
Fundamental Constitutions of 1669 decreed among other things
that, “No man shall be permitted to be a freeman of Carolina, or-
to have any estate or habitation within, that doth not acknowledge
a God, and that God is publicly and solemnly to be worshipped.”
And in another article it was stated that, “No persons whatsoever
shall disturb, molest, or persecute another, for his speculative
opinions in religion, or his way of worship.

It was assumed that the Church of England represented the
“official” religion of early Carolina, but it was not until 1701 that
this church was legally declared the Established religion, after
Daniel Britt had been sent in 1700 to Albemarle as the first
Church of England minister in North Carolina. But many years
before this, the first known Christian minister to preach in North
Carolina came from England. He was a Quaker, named William
Edmundson, who reached the state in 1672. Shortly after this first
visit, the recognized leader of the Quakers, George Fox, also came
to North Carolina. So that the period between 1675 and 1700 has
been declared the “Golden Age” of Quakerism in North Carolina.
Between 1700 and 1729, 17 Quaker missionaries visited North
Carolina, much to the annoyance of the Anglican clergymen, but
after 1730 the Quaker influence declined in the Albemarle region,
while more settlements were made in the central part of the state.
By 1750, many Quakers came from Pennsylvania, Maryland,
Virginia, New Jersey and even Eastern North Carolina and settled
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in what is now Guilford, Randolph, Alamance, and Chatham
counties. The Cane Creek Monthly Meeting of Friends, which had
begun by 1751 in what was then Orange County, became the
leader in establishing subordinate meetings. Some of these were
located in what is now Chatham County, and because of this, it is
possible to say that Quakers were the first to organize churches in
Chatham, ‘

In addition to the Quakers, there was widespread growth of
other dissenting sects in colonial North Carolina. Chief among
these were the Baptists, the Presbyterians, the Lutherans, the
Moravians, the German Reformed, and the Methodists. Before
1700 there were a few individual Presybterians and Baptists in the
state, but no organized churches until 1727, when Paul Palmer
began what must have been the first Baptist Church in eastern
North Carolina. '

The Presbyterians did not become very numerous until after
1739 when large groups of Scottish Highlanders settled along the
Cape Fear River. The Moravians came to Bethabara, with a congre-
gation and minister in 1753. The Lutherans and Reformed groups
came to the Rowan region between 1750 and 1760, and the last of
the dissenting sects to appear in colonial North Carolina were the
Methodists, even though George Whitefield came to the state
several times during the middle of the century. It was not until
1776 that the first Methodist circuit was organized in the state.

Of all the denominations the Baptists had become the most
numerous by 1775, with one church in every county and about
forty churches in the whole state. However, until the time of the
Revolution the official church in the state remained the Anglican,
and although the nearest Church of England Chapel to Chatham
County was located near Chapel Hill, the county had been desig-
nated as St. Bartholomew’s parish even before 1771. But on this
date an act establishing Chatham was ratified which ruled that
there would not only be a district county but that it should also
be designated St. Bartholomew’s Parish. :

As the American Revolution approached, the Established
Church in North Carolina grew weaker and by 1774 it was for all
intents finished. A convention at Halifax in 1776 declared, “That
there shall be no Establishment of any one religious Church or

230

Denomination in this State in preference to any other.” Even with
the fall of Anglicanism in North Carolina it is appropriate that the
Episcopal Church in Pittsboro should bear the old parish name of
St. Bartholomew’s.

After the Revolutionary War, religion in North Carolina accord-
ing to Joseph Caldwell was “little in vogue.” But with the opening
of the nineteenth century the picture began to change. The first
camp meeting in the state took place in Orange County about
1801 and with this the revival spirit had begun. Most all denomina-
tions were stimulated by this revival and this was particularly true
of the Methodists. Francis Asbury, who had come from England
and had had close association with John Wesley, became one of
the first leaders in American Methodism. In all his travels, up and
down the seaboard, it is revealing to read from his Journal of
1800: “We had no small race through Chatham County; we we ¢
lost three times before we came to Charles’ ferry on Haw River;
and had to send a boy a mile for the ferryman.”

The Quakers
The first Quaker settlement in central North Carolina was at
Cane Creek, Alamance County, where a monthly meeting was

eestablished in 1751 at which time there were some “thirty families

and upwards of Friends” in the area. Simon Dixon had led this
group south from Pennsylvania to settle on land he had purchased
from the Lord Proprietors. These families were scattered over a
wide area to the south as far as Bear Creek and to the west as far
as Deep River.

A group representing the Cane Creek Friends appeared at the
Quarterly Meeting of Perquimans County and Little River in the
6th month, 1751 requesting the establishment of a monthly meet-
ing. Permission was granted and the first minutes record that
Women’s Friends held a monthly meeting October 7, 1751, and
the Men’s meeting the same day.

According to George Washington Paschal, the Baptist historian,
by the year 1757 the Quakers had “built five meeting-houses, and
then wanted one or two more.” Paschal describes Oakley, three
miles west of the present town of Ore Hill as one of these “places
of worship.” In a letter written in 1951 to the late Dr. C. C.
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Crittenden, then director of the North Carolina Department of
Archives and History, advocating that an historical marker be
placed at the site of the Oakley Quaker Church, Paschal wrote that
he thought the church was built around 1751 and stood until
1885. He says: “This old church, probably the first church ever
built in the limits of the present Chatham County, was one of the
five built in the Quaker development at Cane Creek now Alamance
County, which dates from about 1750. It was less than a mile
from my mother’s home and my school path to Mount Vernon
Springs Academy ran in full sight of it. Old deeply rutted roads,
long disused, lead to the site. The old meeting house was haunted
and frightful even in daytime. A score or more old Quaker homes,
cach with a fine well-walled spring and spring house, were in the
surrounding country. These Quaker families moved to Indiana and
other ‘free states’ as soon as they were opened for settlers. These
springs and sometimes the spring houses, the better ones, still exist.
Herman Husband was probably a member of this church.”

No other source can be found to establish the fact that this
meeting was ever in that area.

However it can be established that one of the churches “laid
down” by the Cane Creek Friends was the Rocky River Church
which in 1754 asked permission to conduct their own meeting.
This permission was granted. The Rocky River Meeting is unique in
that it was an organized congregation for 155 years before it
became a self-governing monthly meeting. In 1908 with 60 charter
members, mostly descendants of the original Quaker settlers at
Cane Creek, Rocky River became a monthly meeting.

Francis Anscombe, Quaker historian, thinks that the explanation
for the tardiness of this group of Friends in becoming a monthly
meeting was that there was a close bond between the members and
those at Cane Creek. From 1820 the quarterly meeting assembled
once a year at Rocky River, and from 1821 on the monthly
meeting alternated between Cane Creek and Rocky River. »

The present meeting house is the fourth. The first two were of
logs; the third a long frame structure; and the fourth was built in

1926. Four Friends began their ministry at Rocky River: Manly
Holladay, Virgil Pike, Victor Murchison, and Harrison Hinshaw.

Other Friends Churches in the county are:
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SOUTH FORK: Organized 1800 in a log school house situated
on Little Cane Creek, the South prong of Big Cane Creek, hence
the name South Fork. Log building erected later to contain meet-
ing and school. In 1888 a modern meeting house was erected that
contained a partition to divide men’s and women’s business meet-
ings. Remarkable feature is three generations, direct descendants in
one family, have produced ministers: Alfred H. Harris, Edward B.
Harris (son), and Isaac Harris, (grandson). Another minister from
this meeting, Rodema Wright.

PLAINFIELD: Permission requested and granted to establish
Monthly Meeting on April 7, 1897. Monthly meeting held one
month at Plainfield, the next at South Fork. On December 29,
1913 Plainfield became separate monthly meeting. First Quarterly
meeting held at Plainfield in 1915,

EDWARD HILL: Established as a result of meetings held by
Isham Cox at Hope and Willett School Houses. Named Edward Hill
in memory of Edward Skull. Remained a part of the Cane Creek
meeting until 1908. New building used first time April 25, 1948
replacing the original structure.

The Baptists

According to Dr. George Griffin, “Almost all of the Baptist
churches in Chatham County belong to the historic Sandy Creek
Association. This Association, the first in North Carolina and the
second in the South, was formed in 1758, largely through the
efforts of Shubal Stearns. He had come from Boston and begun a
Baptist Church in what is now eastern Randolph County in 1755.
From this church, Sandy Creek, “missionaries” went forth to
organize churches in the surrounding areas. It is likely that this was
the occasion for the beginning of the first Baptist churches in
Chatham.”

Following the formation of the Sandy Creek Church in 1755, a
church was instituted at Abbott’s Creek, in what is now Davidson
County; and shortly thereafter the Deep River Church in Chatham
County was established, According to Paschal in his “History of
the North Carolina Baptists,” the exact location of this church is
not known. “It was, of course, near the stream from which it takes
its name and probably near the ford of that river on the ‘Yadkin

233



1889. First church building, a wooden structure, completed in
1900. Sunday School organized same year. In 1911 church secured
parsonage. In 1930 new church constructed. In 1963 church under-
took third major building program completing the task in 1965.
Present membership, 626; present minister, Rev. C. R. Smith.
TYSON’S CREEK: Organized at Tyson’s Creek School Novem-
ber 18, 1881. Rev. T. N. Baldwin, first pastor. First house of
worship dedicated August, 1885. Building later moved some dis-
tance from original site and remodeled and Sunday School School
rooms added. Considerable renovation to interior of church house.
Present membership, 184; present minister, Rev. John A. Mann.

Methodists

Although there undoubtedly were individuals who professed
Methodist beliefs in North Carolina and even in Chatham County,
the earliest record of organized Methodism in this area was in
1776. According to W. L. Grissom in his “History of Methodism in
North Carolina,” at a conference held in Baltimore on May 21,
1776, four new circuits were added: Fairfax, Hanover, Pittsylvania
and Carolina. The latter lay in North Carolina and had for its
preachers Edward Dromgoole, Francis Poythress and Isham Tatum.
By 1800 there were 20 districts including the South Carolina
Conference into which the entire Cape Fear Valley fell. Other
sections of North Carolina including the northern section of
Chatham were part of the Virginia Conference as early as 1776.

Later four circuits: Roanoke, Tar River, New Hope and Yadkin
were formed within the boundaries of the state.

In 1793 parts of Chatham were in the Haw River Circuit.

In 1833 minutes of the Virginia Conference of the Methodist
Episcopal Church show the establishment of the Pittsborough
Circuit. John W. White rode the Circuit and there were 79 white
and 57 colored members.

At the same time records show that the northern part of the
county was in the Chatham Circuit. This circuit was served by
John B. Corn and had 252 white and 75 colored members. A new
circuit named Buckhorn was placed in the Greensborough District
along with Chatham Circuit. ,

As early as 1780 Francis Asbury made a visit to North Carolina
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and 1 July ot that year visited “Brother Merritt’s,” which was in
castern Chatham County. Francis Poythress was the pastor of the
New Hope Circuit at that time.

While the earliest reference to a specific church in the eastern
section of the county recorded in Asbury’s Journal was made on
January 19, 1790 when he kept an appointment at Merritt’s
Chapel on New Hope Creek in Chatham County, Rocky River
Church in western Chatham . is believed to have been organized
even earlier by Asbury on July 22, 1780 and Mt. Pleasant is said
to have been organized in 1779.

A brief description of the 28 white Methodist churches in the
county now in existence follows:

Bonlee Circuit
MERONIES: Founded in 1808 when William Meroney and

Boling Hines made a deed for the land conveying one and a half

acres and recorded February, 1814. Trustees were Thomas
Ragland, Micagah McGee, James Gaines, William Ragland, Edward
Rives, and Thomas Brooks. Present membership, 213; present min-
ister, Rev. James Millard Short.

HOPE: Around 1871 Miss Artilie Cox came to the community.
Her father, Isham Cox, a Quaker minister, preached several times
at the school house where his daughter taught. Later Rev. W. W.
Amick did likewise. In 1873 S. J. Tally asked the Rev. Mr. Amick
to conduct a revival meeting in a brush arbor. At the close of the
meeting the church was organized with Rev. Amick, pastor. By
1876 a church had been erected. It was remodeled in 1915 and
Sunday School rooms added in 1926. Plans for the present church
were started in 1944 when Mrs. A. A. Johnson, then president of
the Woman’s Society of Christian Service, headed a drive for funds.
Building completed two years later at cost of $35 ,000. Present
membership, 107; present minister, Rev. James Millard Short.

PROVIDENCE: The records for this church are missing and
while it is believed that it was organized in the middle 1870’s an
article in The Chatham News in 1924 sets the date for organization
as 1804. On September 11, 1887 two acres of land were purchased
for eight dollars from T. W. and Fannie Andrews for the construc-
tion of a building. The land was located approximately five miles
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west of Bonlee where a one-room building was constructed. R,
Lonnie Edwards served as Sunday School superintendent for about
40 years. In the year 1952 the old church building was turned
around and moved back from the dirt road. In 1961 a brick
educational building was built. The church purchased one of the
first organs in the county and Esta Edwards (Smith) served as
organist for many years. One minister has come from this church:
John Robert Edwards. Present membership, 50; present minister,
Rev. James Millard Short.

Bynum

BYNUM: Organized 1901 as part of Haw River Circuit. Carney
W. Bynum, first Sunday School superintendent. Rev. J. T. Draper,
first pastor. Original building completed in 1901 with additions
made to it later and further improvements in 1950. In 1965
church brick veneered and in the same year the church became a
self-supporting ‘station. Billy Gattis entered the ministry from this
church. Present membership, 193; present minister, Rev. Clyde P.
Pearce. '

Goldston Circuit

ASBURY: Although no records exist of the early days of the
church, tradition has it that as long as 200 years ago, services were
held in the community. Services probably held in a brush arbor
until a man named Burns agreed to hold meetings in his home.
Bishop Francis Asbury is known to have visited the county and is
believed that he visited this section, spending the night and holding
prayer services, hence the name of the church. There have been
four buildings: two log churches, followed by two frame ones. At
least one of them burned. A deed between Edward Burns and
Thomas Clegg, Will Stedman and Straughn, trustees, for the purchase
of land in 1838 is recorded. Present membership, 208; present
minister, Rev. W.E. Worley.

GOLDSTON: Jack Goldston and Loton F. Paschal organized the
first Sunday School at Goldston. The present building is the
second, the original having been torn down in 1910. First church
called Corinth. Joe John Goldston gave lots for new church and
school building and by 1892 both buildings open for use. Present
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membership, 208; present minister, Rev. W. E. Worley.

Grove Chapel Circuit

CEDAR GROVE: Original church one-room log building with
rock chimney and open fireplace. From 1806 to 1817 called Haw
River Mountain and located across river from present church.
Moved across river and called Flint Hill from 1817 to 1824, Again
moved, this time to old Hillsborough road from 1824 until 1873
and this is the site of the present church. Present membership, 60;
present minister, Rev. J. M. Leatherwood.

MANN’S CHAPEL: Started in log schoolhouse. First minister,
Rev. John Tillett. Followed by Rev. S. P. Oldham in 1861 and
Rev. Joseph Martin in 1863. Two preachers have come from church:
Rev. James Strowd and Rev. William Meacham. Present membership,
60, present minister, Rev. J. M. Leatherwood.

Merritt’s-Ebenezer Circuit

MERRITT’S: Exact date of founding unknown. On July 15,
1780 Francis Asbury made his first visit to North Carolina ~and
went to “Brother Merritt’s” in Chatham. then delivered a sermon
at Taylor’s “*Preachiny House” also in Chatham. This is the carliest
reference to a church in the county by Bishop Asbury. Thomas
Anderson was serving New Hope Circuit as pastor. In the old
cemetery, one-halt mile from the present church, is the grave of
William Merritt, born July 10, 1785; died November 17, 1867.
Deed on record to church from Merritt dated 1857. Present member-
ship 128; present minister, Rev. Michael Potts.

EBENEZER: In 1817 Joseph Yarborough sought a pastor from
Buckhorn Circuit to come to this community to preach in an old
log house that stood a mile north of present church. Sunday
School and church organized in 1827. About the same year a log
meeting house was built and named Ebenezer, meaning a “Stone of
Help Coming from the Lord.” Preaching services were held twice a
month at the meeting house and at the home of Mary Farrar.
Later a framed building constructed, a few vyards from where
present church stands. Just prior to the Civil War another building

as constructed which became part of the present church, Original
log cabin now stands on farm of Thomas Farrar. Second structure
given to Negroes of the area and is now located across the highway
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and is also called Ebenezer. Old rolls show that until 1867 whiics
and blacks worshipped together. When Negroes withdrew, ﬂ_}f
membership was cut in half. In 1914 Sunday School rooms: buiii
and in 1948 church annex constructed. Present membership, 95,
present minister, Rev. Michael Potts.

Moncure Circuit

BUCKHORN: Grill, Methodist historian says: ‘“‘Some preti:
exacting research has set the date of origin of Buckhorn aroun::
1800 and if Memphis Church was the ‘Mother of Methodism’ ¢::
the southwestern side of the Cape Fear River, Buckhorn Churc"
can take the same honor on the northeastern side.” Seth Cotto::
who was in the area before 1771, bought 3,000 acres fron.
Benjamin Chaprhan and a log meeting house was built on hLi.
property. In 1822 the old place was abandoned because of lack «:
a spring and moved to a 10-acre site nearby. By 1855 church .w;;
on Haw River Circdit and had 161 members. In 1857 came int::
reorganized Buckhorn Circuit. In 1925 new church built at Corint!
a mile and half away and in January, 1929 the old one-rooi:
building was torn down. Also in 1925 Buckhorn Circuit ws:
dissolved. Present membership, 132; present minister, Rev. Parke
Hager. '

MONCURE: Constructed in 1890’. Church built from lumbe.
of two other churches, old Methodist Church at Haywood and o}
Bryan;s Chapel at Lockville. Present membership, 100; preser:
minister, Rev. Parker Hager. o

MT. ZION: Sunday School organized by Joseph Bynum April ¢
1851. Location about two miles southeast of Pittsboro at site (.:%
Moore’s School. A protracted meeting held under a brush arbor ::
schoolhouse yard where it was decided to build a church. Bynus;:
donated two or three acres and members of community »supplieiz
materials. For many years services held only during spring and
summer because of no heat. Stove purchased in 1879. Two
preachers received license to preach while members here: Rev.
John A. Hornaday and Rev. Thomas Mansfield. Present member-
ship, 64; present minister, Rev. Parker Hager.
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The Presbyterians

There were some individual Presbyterians in North Carolina in
the early 1700’s and a few in the Cape Fear Valley as early as
1736. Orange Presbytery, to which the Chatham churches belong,
was organized May, 1770 with eight congregations in North
Carolina and four in South Carolina. The first meeting of the
Orange Presbytery was held at Hawfield Church in present
Alamance County. '

The church at Pittsboro was organized some years later, in
1848. One reason Presbyterian churches were slow in organizing
was the lack of ministers to serve the congregations.

PITTSBORO: At the instigation of Major Joseph Small and Mrs.
Ann McBryde Womack on Sunday, August 12, 1848 a group met
in the parlor of Mr. and Mrs. Green Womack (their home was
located across the street from wher the church now stands) for
the purpose of organizing the Presbyterian Church. The meeting
was moderated by Rev. Drury Lacy, pastor of the Raleigh Presby-
terian Church. Also present were: Mr. and Mrs. Roderick Mclntosh,
Dr. John Z. Davis, Mrs. Sara A. Reid, Mrs. Celia Horne, Mrs. Clara
Stedman, Miss Elizabeth Murdin, Dr. and Mrs. William A. Hayes
and probably others. v

Although the church was not established until 1848, staunch
Presbyterians in the area held periodic prayer services and study
groups in various private homes. Also in the early 1800’s, espec-
ially duirng the summer months when vacationers from Wilmington
and New Bern were in the area, services were conducted in the old
Pittsboro Academy and the courthouse. The Rev. James Mclver of
Fayetteville Presbytery came once a month to hold services which
were usually held in the Methodist Church. In 1836 the Rev.
James Phillips, professor of philosophy at the University of Chapel
Hill, started preaching once a month at the Academy.

Soon after the 1848 meeting in Mrs. Womack’s parlor, the Rev.
James H. McNeill, a recent graduate of Princeton Seminary, was
called as pastor. Within less than a year the congregation raised
$1350 for the purpose of erecting a church. On the fourth Sunday
in May, 1850 services were held in the “new church.” This same
building stands today, probably the first brick building erected in
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and the present building replaced it. Present building remodeled in
April, 1963. Van Thomas, Kenny Jones, Ulys Cook, Audy Jones,
Seymour Johnson, Lee Johnson, Chesley Johnson, Casey Johnson,
Mrs. R. G. Buckner, Mrs. W. M. Wright, Jesse A. Crutchfield, Mr.
Rudd and Henry Jones got together and decided to promote work
on the church. Present membership, two; present minister, Elder
Kenneth Key of Greensboro.

GAINES GROVE: The present Gaines Grove Church is located
five miles west of Goldston and was built on land given by Thomas
Gaines. The building was started in 1908 and completed in 1909.
Prior to that time the congregation met in the old Bear Creek
Church. The present membership is 15; present ministers Elder
Kelvin Harward, and Elder Sam Atkinson.

United Church of Christ

James O’Kelly was a pioneer of Methodism in North Carolina.
He began his ministry in the Methodist church in Virginia in 1777
and served for 15 years. He laid the foundation for the New Hope
Circuit and in 1779 extended his work down into the Cape Fear
section which afterwards became the Bladen Circuit. He was or-
dained an elder in 1784 at the Christmas Conference in Baltimore
and served as District Superintendent under Francis Asbury until
he with 35 other ministers withdrew from the Methodist Episcopal
Church in 1792. This group of ministers disagreed with Asbury
over the administration of the church and came to be known as
Republican Methodists, which name was later changed to Christian.

O’Kelly moved to Chatham County about 1797, purchased a
farm and lived to be 92 years old. He is buried on what was his
farm near the Oi’ange, Durham and Chatham County lines.

On coming to North Carolina he established O’Kelly’s Chapel in
Chatham County in 1794, the first Christian Church in North
Carolina. This building is still standing although services are no
longer held there.

The father of the Christian Church and its first home belong to
Chatham County.

MARTHA’S CHAPEL: Following the organization of O’Kelly’s
- Chapel, James O’Kelly began his missionary work in Chatham and
purchased one acre of land from John Scott in the eastern part of
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the county where Martha’s Chapel now stands. In 1803 the congre-
gation built a church. O’Kelly undoubtedly served as the firs
minister. '

Besides the churches begun by O’Kelly, Elon College and Elon
Home for Children, both located at Elon College, N. C. were
founded and maintained by the O’Kelly Christian Church. This
denomination merged with the Congregational Church in 1931 to
become the Congregationl Christian Church. In 1959 the new
denomination united with the Evangelical Reform Church to be-
come the United Church of Christ.

HANKS CHAPEL: Organized in 1835 as a brush arbor congre-
gation by Dr. John Hanks. One minister has come from this
church, the Rev. Earl Farrell. Present membership, 325; present
minister, the Rev. B. J. Willett.

ANTIOCH: Organized 1888. The cemetery contains graves of 12
Confederate soldiers. Present membership, 137. No minister at
present. ‘

NEW ELAM: Organized in 1863. Present membership, 148;
present minister Rev. E. Woodall.

CEDAR GROVE: Organized in 1888. There are eight members
and the church is now inactive.

The Roman Catholics

SAINT JULIA’S: The first service held at downtown furniture
store in Siler City by Father Paul Byron around 1951. The
church-store was destroyed by fire the same year.

Following destruction of the initial facilities, Siler City Catholics
went to Asheboro to attend services.

The dream of a church in Siler City came to fruition at a
covered dish dinner at the home of Mrs. T. A. Brown in late 1960.
John J. White, Siler City industrialist, was chiefly responsible for
the fund drive that resulted. Construction of church began in
April, 1961 and was completed in November.

The church was temporarily named Saint Vincent DePaul in
honor of the Catholic Bishop of North Carolina, Vincent S. Waters.
The final selection of a name was made in August, 1961, the
church becoming Saint Julia’s Catholic Church.

Saint Julia’s has approximately 100 parishioners and they are
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Minter-Morgan-Womack

John Minter (wife Elizabeth Morgan) moved into Chatham
County about the time it was organized. Their daughter, Judith
(Judy), married Abraham Womack. who was living in Orange
County in 1770.

August 1772 Court Records show that Anthony Minter, John’s
brother, bought 140 acres of land lying on the fork of Cape Fear
River from James Riddle. This transaction was signed by Joseph
Brantley, John Minter, Morgan Minter and Jeremiah Minter.
Morgan Minter married Joanna. daughter of Col. Robert Ruther-
tford.

In 1775 John Minter deeded 120 acres on the northeast side of
Deep River to Abraham Womack, who in 1778 bought 200 acres
in Chatham County from Jeremiah Minter. In the National
Archives there is record of commendation to Womack for his
Revolutionary service. In preparing to leave Chatham County to
live in Georgia. Womack in December. 1784, sold his land on Deep
River to John Ramsey. :

Other prominent members of the Womack family were Judge
 Thomas B. Womack, of Pittsboro, and his brother, Francis. who
designed the present court house.

Alston

Titular head of one of Chatham’s distinguished early families
was Joseph John Alston, Jr., (1767-1841), who was called
“Chatham Jack.”

While there are many stories to substantiate the fact that one or
two of the Alstons were in Chatham County during the Revolution
the record of “Chatham Jack’s” entry is 1791. He came from
Halifax County. Much of his father’s wealth has been left to him
and he came to own 40,000 acres in Chatham County and many
slaves. Nearly all of the land along the present Highway 64 from
Pittsboro to Siler City was Alston owned. It was on this land that
he built his home and homes for his children. “Chatham Jack’s”
home stood near the present Ward Snarr home and he is buried in
the family cemetery nearby. Three of the Alston homes still
standing: Aspen Hall, home of son Gideon; the Degraffenreidt home,
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763, 778; 19.
606, 607, 608,
617, 619, 622,
631, 634, 638,
675, 676, 680,
693, 709, 710,
728, 736, T49,
21, 445, 446,
451, 452; 22, 94, 133, 142,
544, 545, 554, 564, 568, 592,
678, 687,761, 763, 774, 780, 781,
904, 905, 946, 954, 955, 1024;
186, 256, 291, 759.
act for academy in, 24. 754-6; to.
incorporate, 23. 59z, 24. 613-16;
25. 468-70. :
ammunition removed to, 11. 620.
arms sent to, 14. 845; removal
from, 17. 665.
bill for acamedy, 17. 336, 352, 355,
295-396, 405, 407; 20. 44, 66, 98;
to remove C. H, to, 6. 1097, 1100,
1105, 1108, 1129, 1130-1131, 1145,
1163, 1167, 1178, 1182, 1202, 1203,
1228, 1233, 1276; to repeal act on!
saving lots in, 18, 92, 178, 192,
393, 398, 418, 426, 435. )
Council of State held in, 14. 273-4; .
22. 922-6, 929-31, 937-44, 939-44,
949-57, 962-4,
Craike on magazine in, 13. 146-7.
guns in, and lead delivered to:
Long, 13. 91-92. :
inspection at, 24. 581.
J. P, in, 17, 2394.
lead at, 12. 566, 663-4.
magazine at to be captured, 14.:
184.
military stores to be removed from,
13. 5; to, 22. 925, 940.
provisions and arms to for army,
15. 69-70; bought at, 22. 959.
public stores to be removed to, 12.:
422-3, 490, ‘
rendezvous at, 11. 602, 603; for re-;
cruits, 11. 468; for troops, 587,
588; 13. x, xii, 245, 251, 267, 274; :
22. 766; for 10th reg't, 12. 132,;

683,
718,
746,
226,
609,
623,
666,
681,
714,
752,
449,

684,
723,
751,
20.
612,
624,
668,
682,
715,
758,
450,
538,
672,
784,
24.

133, 294 ¥5; vendezvous at, 24,5
17 !
Jontinent 1 soldiers rec’d |
83.
guarded, 12. 417. i

. organized at, 11. xv. i
spection at, 23. 649, 792.]

\) Kir

}7Kirkland,

Tories at, 14. 649; executed at, 22
vi.
Kintyre, Scotland, 5. 1196.
Kiowee River, 17. 4635; 20. 403, 404,
405.
See also Keowee.
Kippey, Peter, army rank, 16. 1095.
Kipps, Francis, road coms'r, 23. 222.
Kirbo, James, in army, 15. 728.
re-enlists, 18. 750.
Kirby, Esther, land lapses, 2.
Kirby,

522,
James, land grant to, 4. 66.
Kirby, Thomas, juror, 4. 524.
land grant to, 4. 353.
Kirby's Creek, 23. 638.
Kirk, Mr,, buys land, 9. 698.
Kirk, General, compared with Tryon,
8. 726.
Kirk, Jno., army rank, 15. 720; 18.
1096. :
Kirk, Jos., act to relieve from recog-
nizance, 24. 762-3.
bill to release from forfeiture, 20.
81, 93, 112.
petition considered, 17.
3172, 373, 382, 386.
Kirk, Lewis, petition, 19. 63.
Kirk, Roger, army rank, 16. 1098.
Kirk family, killed, 21. 523.

298, 302,

Kirkconeil, John, petitions on land
grants, 9. 1260-2; 11. 250-2.
Kirkconell, John, petitions on land

grants, 9. 1260-3.
Kirke, Thos., juryman, 2. 266.
Kirkham, Mr,, and negro, 18. 662-3.
Kirkham, Elenor, pauper, 1. 679, 680.
kiand, James, asks for new coun-
ty, 8. 89,
Jno,, in militia, 22. 370.
Kirkliand (Kukiand), Joseph, petition
allowed, 7. 902, 948, 952, 959.
Kirkland, Rgbert, witness, 4. 502

. Kirkland, Wm,, army pay, 17. 225.

Kirkpatrick, A., to Nash on arms, etc.,
22, 535.

Kirkpatrick, George, petition on sepa-
ration, 22. 705-8.

Kirkpatrick, James, 21. 336.

Kirkpatrick, John, salt coms'r, 24.
915.

Kirkpatrick, Michl, major, 20. 273,
461.

Kirkpatrick, Patrick, petition on sep-
aration, 22. 705-8.

Kirkpatrick, Robert, in army, 15. 730.

Kirkpatrick, Robert, petition on catch-
ing fish, 9. 87-8; for pardon of
Fields, 9. 41.
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forces of Emperor Maximilian as “Chief de Battalion.” After a shuit
while, he returned to ‘I'exas and established a law practice in Houston,
Disgusted with reconstruction politics, 'l'errell retired to a plantation
Kobertson County untit 1871, when he moved to Austin. He served both
in the lower and upper houses of the state legislature between 1875 and
1893. In the latter year 'Lerrell was appointed Minister Plenipotentiary o
Turkey by President Cleveland and served in this capacity until 1897,

Alexander Watkins Terrell was active in the Texas State Historivul
Association and was president of that august body when he died on Sep-
tember 8, 1912, at Mineral Springs.

Terrell County, Texas, is named for him.

“2Richard Waterhouse was born on January 12, 1832, in Rhea County,
Tennessee. As a young boy he ran away from home to fight in the Mex.
ican War (1846-47).

Waterhouse moved with his parents to San Augustine, Texas, in 184y,
and worked in the mercantile business with his father.

During the winter of 1861-62, Waterhouse was instrumental in or-
ganizing the 19th Texas Infantry Regiment. He was commissioned colonel
of the 19th Texas Infantry May 13, 1862, and in 1862 and early 1863
served under the command of Generals Thomas Hindman and Theophilus
Holmes in Arkansas and General Richard Taylor in Louisiana. During
the Vicksburg campaign (spring and summer, 1863), Waterhouse served
under General Henry McCulloch (see note number 60) and fought in the
Battle of Milliken’s Bend (June 7, 1863). In 1864 he served in Scurry’s
Brigade and was present at both Mansfield (April 8, 1864) and Pleasant
Hill (April 9, 1864). E. Kirby Smith promoted Waterhouse to brigadier
general on April 30, 1864. This commission was approved by President
Davis on March 17, 1865, and confirmed by the Confederate Senate the
following day—the last day that it was in session.

After the war, Waterhouse resided in San Augustine and Jefferson
and engaged in land speculation. During a trip to Waco in Maurch, 187s,
he feil dow_n a flight of stairs in a local hotel and injured his shoulder aud
back. A siege of pneumonia, coupled with his injuries, caused his death
on March 20, 1876. Richard Waterhouse was buried at Jefferson, Texas.

*Thomas Neville Waul was born near Statesburg, Sumter District,
Sputh Carolina, on January 5, 1813. (Some sources give England as his
bn:th place.) He attended the University of South Carolina, but before
being graduated moved to Florence, Alabama, where he taught school for
a short while. Moving west to Mississippi, Waul studied law at Vicksburg
and passed the Mississippi bar.

. He; moved to Texas in 1850 and bought a plantation on the Guadalupe
River in Gonzales County, where he farmed and practiced law. Waul was
a candidate for Congress from the Western District of Texas in 1859 but
was defeated by A. J. Hamilton. He was appointed by the Secession Con-
vention as a delegate to the Provisional Congress of the Confederate States
meeting in Montgomery and remained a delegate until the permanent Con-
federate government was established in February, 1862.

_Waul returned to Texas in the spring of 1862 and organized Waul's
Legion at Brenham. He was commissioned colonel of the Legion on May
13, 1862. Waul’s Legion served in Mississippi in late 1862 and early 1863.
The mfantry companies of the Legion (with Waul in command) surren-
dered at Vicksburg (July 4, 1863). After being exchanged, Waul Wils
promoted to brigadier general to rank from September 18, 1863. During
the Red River campaign in the spring of 1864, he commanded 2 brigude
in General J. G. Walker’s Division and was present at Mansfield (‘April 8.
1864) and Pleasant Hill (April 9, 1864). Following the latter battle Waul
was transferred to Arkansas and fought at Jenkins’ Ferry (April 3G, 1864)
against Frederick Steele.

Following the war, Waul returned to his plantation in Gonzales Coun-
ty. He later moved to Galveston, where he practiced law until 1893. Waul
retired to a farm in Hunt County near Greenville, where he died on July
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<8, 1903, at the age of ninety-one. Thomas Neville Waul was buried at

Fort Worth.

1A legion is composed of all three of the busic arms of the militar "
vk&jmmU. Texas pr Tv fons to the
Confederacy—Waul’s Legion and Whitfield's Legion. Waul's Legion,
which included twelve infantry companies, six cavalry companies, and a
six-gun battery of light artillery, consisted of approximately two thousand
men when it was first organized. The infantr i elevi
twelve) were captured at Vicksburg; the artillery battery was captured
just—prior_To_the Battle of Mansfield (April 8, 1864). After Vicksburg

¢ iniantry companies of the Legion returned to Texas, were reorganized
under Colonel Barnard Timmons, and served along the Texas coast for
the remainder of the war.

See notes number 292 and 293 for additional information on the legion

organization and Waul’s Legion in particular.

John Austin Wharton was born near Nashville, Tennessee, on July 3,
1828, but, as a child, was brought by his family to Galveston, Texas.

Wharton attended South Carolina College (later the University of
South Carolina), married the daughter of the governor of South Carolina
in 1848, and then returned to Texas, where he passed the bar and practiced
law in Brazoria. In 1859 Wharton was elected district attorney for the
First Judicial District. He represented Brazoria County at the Texas
Sﬁcession Convention (February, 1861) and voted to take Texas out of
the Union.

Upon the outbreak of the Civil War, Wharton raised a company of
cavalry and joined Colonel B. F. Terry’s Texas Rangers, which later was
designated the 8th Texas Cavalry Regiment. Wharton succeeded to the
command of the 8th Texas Cavalry after the deaths of Colonels Terry and
Lubbock early in the war and, as a colonel, led the regiment with distine-
tion at Shiloh (April 6 and 7, 1862). He was promoted to brigadier gen-
eral on November 18, 1862, and served with “TMighting Joe” Wheeler and
Nathan B. Forrest at Stones River (December 31, 1862-January 3, 1863)
and Chickamauga (September 19 and 20, 1863). For his outstanding con-
duct at the latter battle, Wharton was promoted to major general to rank
from November 10, 1863. During the greater part of 1864, Wharton com-
manded the cavalry in General Richard Taylor’s Department (Department
of Alabama, Mississippi, and East Louisiana). He fought in the Red River
campaign (March and April, 1864) and spent the remainder of the war in
the Trans-Mississippi Department.

Wharton’s great wartime story had a tragic ending. On April 6, 1864,
while visiting General J. B. Magruder’s Headguarters in the Fannin Hotel
at Houston, Wharton was murdered by a fellow officer, Colonel George
Wythe Baylor (see note number 51). It is said that the feud was caused
by “military matters” following the reorganization of the Confederate
Trans-Mississippi Command in late 1864. General Wharton was supposed
to have slapped Baylor’s face and called him a liar, whereupon Colonel
Baylor drew his pistol and shot Wharton, who was unarmed at the time.
General John Austin Wharton was buried at Austin, Texas.

During the war, a short while after the Battle of Shiloh. Wharton
was requested to run for a seat in the Confederate Congress. His mother,
who heard the news first, refused for him, saying that she knew her son
would rather “fight than legislate.”

"6Francis Richard Lubbock was born at Beaufort, South Carolina, on
October 16, 1815.

Lubbock crossed the lower Sabine River in 1836 to search for his
vounger brother, Thomas S. Lubbock, who had gone to Texas to fight in
the Revolution. He located his brother at Velasco and decided to stay in
Texas. Francis Lubbock opened a mercantile husiness at Velasco and also
one at Houston. Tn 1837, during the Second Congress. he served first as
assistant clerk and then as chief clerk of the Texas House of Representa-
tives, When Lubbock was twenty-two, Sam Houston appointed him comp-
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